1977

Wesley G. Harline and Richard Nilsson v. Executive Properties : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an action in equity based upon the doctrine of unjust enrichment. Executive Properties, a limited partnership, the appellant herein, was the defendant in an action commenced by Drs. Wesley G. Harline and Richard Nilsson against Executive Properties, a limited partnership, and appellant herein, in the District Court of Weber County, Civil No. 61788.

The respondents had advanced the sum of Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) to Frontiers West, the general partner of Executive Properties, to apply toward the purchase of an apartment complex known as Bellevue Estates. Frontiers thereafter filed under the Federal Bankruptcy Act, Chapter 11, in an attempt to work an arrangement with its creditors, which action was converted to a full bankruptcy in which

Frontiers was declared bankrupt in June of 1975. Action was brought by respondents to recover Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) based on an alleged unjust enrichment to the Executive Properties, a limited partnership, appellants.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

This case was tried in the District Court of Weber County, State of Utah, with the Honorable Calvin Gould presiding on the 3rd and 4th days of May, 1976, the court handing down its memorandum decision on the 11th day of May, 1976, awarding to the plaintiffs, the respondents herein, a judgment of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) each against the defendant, Executive Properties. The findings of fact and conclusions of law, together with a judgment by counsel for respondents, was signed and executed by the court on the 22nd day of June, 1976. An appeal was taken by Executive Properties, a limited partnership, through its counsel on the 21st day of July, 1976; thereafter a transcript of trial was ordered and prepared.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Executive Properties, the appellant herein, seeks relief as follows:

1. A reversal of the trial court's decree of judgment based on misapplication of facts by the trial court to the law.
2. Dismissal of the trial court's granting of judgment in favor of plaintiffs and respondents.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In late 1968, a Washington State partnership known as "Mastro and Gamel", whose partners were Mike Mastro and Issac Gamel and their respective spouses, (the Partnership is hereinafter referred to as Mastro), had constructed a 129 unit apartment complex in Bellevue, Washington. The apartment complex was referred to as "Bellevue" and any future reference to the apartment complex shall be referred to as "Bellevue".

On October 1, 1970, Mastro sold Bellevue on an installment contract to Apartment Enterprises, Inc., a Utah Corporation, whose president was Paul M. Hansen. The transaction conveyed all rights, title and interest to Apartment Enterprises, Inc. for One Million Five Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$1,550,000.00). The One Million Five Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$1,550,000.00) consisted of a first mortgage in the approximate amount of One Million Two Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$1,200,000.00) and Mastro's equity of a Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$350,000.00) to be paid in one lump sum of Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$350,000.00) in the year 1981. However, the contract provided for lump payments of interest in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) on or before December 31, 1970, and another

Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) interest in 1971, with a final interest payment of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) due on or before January 15, 1973.

Apartment Enterprises, Inc., shortly thereafter, transferred and conveyed its interest to B & L, a Utah Limited Partnership, of which Apartment Enterprises, Inc., was its general partner. One of the limited partners in said B & L Limited Partnership was the respondent, Dr. Richard Nilsson.

Because of the adverse employment situation in the Seattle area as a result of the termination of the SST Program resulting in huge lay-offs at Boeing, many of the tenants at Bellevue left the area for other employment. Thus caused financial difficulties for B & L. Thus, in late 1972, although contracts are dated August 3, 1972, Apartment Enterprises and B & L conveyed all its right, title and interest in said Bellevue to Frontiers West, Inc., a Utah Corporation, which was formed in 1971 for the purpose of syndicating and developing real property. The Respondents, Drs. Wesley G.

Harline and Richard Nilsson were two of the original incorporators of Frontiers West, along with Linford L. Theobald, who became the President of Frontiers West, Inc. hereinafter referred to as "Frontiers". Frontiers purchased Bellevue on contract by assuming all of Apartment Enterprises' remaining obligations

under the contract and agreeing to assume Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00) in delinquent operating expenses, and agreeing to pay Apartment Enterprises its equity of One Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$130,000.00) in lump sum payments of Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) on or before June 30, 1974, another Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) on or before June 30, 1975, and finally Thirty Thousand Dollars (\$30,000.00) on or before June 30, 1976.

At the same time the purchase was made by Frontiers, Frontiers caused to have form a Utah limited partnership called "Executive Properties", of which Frontiers and Mr. Lynford L. Theobald were to be co-general partners. Frontiers on the identical date of the purchase, transferred and conveyed its interest in Bellevue to Executive Properties by contract for a total purchase price of One Million Eight Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars (1,880,000.00), which figure was Three Hundred Sixty Seven Thousand (\$367,000.00) above the price just contracted from Apartment Enterprises and B & L. The contract provided further that it assumed all of the liabilities and obligations of the Frontiers contract and the Apartment Enterprises contract to Mastro. Thereafter Frontiers sold partnership interests in Executive Properties to ten (10) investors. Each investor was to pay Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) in cash on or before December 31, 1972, and sign an installment note payable to Executive Properties

of Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00), of which the first Eight Thousand Dollars (\$8,000.00) was to be paid on or before June 30, 1973, Six Thousand Dollars (\$6,000.00) due on or before June 30, 1974, Four Thousand Dollars (\$4,000.00) due on or before June 30, 1975, and Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000.00) due on or before June 30, 1976.

The Plaintiff and Respondent, Wesley G. Harline, became one of the investors in Executive Properties. The remaining partnership interests were sold to various investors, among whom were Drs. Sheridan R. Daines, A. Dean McKee and Robert Morrow. These three (3) doctors purchased forty percent (40%) of the partnership interests. They did not have sufficient cash resources at the time to make the initial cash down payment, and as a result, were permitted by Frontiers and Lynford L. Theobald, the then general partners, to sign promissory notes for their initial contribution to the partnership. The other six (6) investors made their cash contributions and all partners obligated themselves for the Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) installment note.

In January 1973, Frontiers became delinquent on the Fifty Thousand Dollar (\$50,000.00) payment due Apartment Enterprises, which in turn was due Mastro. An extension of time was granted by all parties to Frontiers

until June 30, 1973 for the payment. On or before June 30, 1973, the limited partners of Executive Properties made their Eight Thousand Dollar (\$8,000.00) payment under the installment notes, all except Drs. Sheridan R. Daines, A. Dean McKee and Robert Morrow, who were again permitted by the general partners to sign additional promissory notes for their Eight Thousand Dollar (\$8,000.00) installment note payment. However, in January of 1973, Frontiers had secured a One Hundred Ninty Thousand Dollar (\$190,000.00) operating loan from Zion's National Bank of Ogden, Utah for purposes of developing other real estate syndications, which came due in September of 1973 and was later renewed. Frontiers pledged as security for the loan most of Executive Properties' installment notes receivable and the notes Executive Properties received in lieu of cash from Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow. The rest of the partnership's notes were pledged to other Frontiers' creditors. During this same period, Frontiers had caused to be formed five (5) other limited partnerships with their respective investors.

In June, 1976, the Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) under the previous extension became delinquent. In October, 1973, Mastro commenced action in Washington against Apartment Enterprises for foreclosure on Bellevue pursuant to the terms of their contract. At approximately the same time, Apartment

Enterprises commenced action against Frontiers for the delinquent installment and to terminate Frontiers interest under the contract. Apartment Enterprises answered Mastro's complaint and alleged certain counter claims. However, Frontiers failed to answer Apartment Enterprises' complaint and in November, 1973, Apartment Enterprises obtained a Default Judgement against Frontiers depriving it of any interest in Bellevue.

After the entry of the Default Judgment, Frontiers began negotiations with Apartment Enterprises for reinstating its contract. It was agreed by the parties that if Frontiers could make arrangements with Mastro to settle the matter between Mastro and Apartment Enterprises, Apartment Enterprises would then reinstate Frontiers contract. Frontiers negotiated directly with Mastro for a solution to the Mastro law suit. The parties agreed to accept Forty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$42,000.00) and upon its payment by Frontiers to Mastro, Mastro would inturn reinstate its contract with Apartment Enterprises. However, because of the then fuel crisis and the internal affairs of Frontiers Frontiers did not have the Forty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$42,000.00). Frontiers made many loan applications at various banks in the Ogden area, however, in all cases were turned down. The various investors of the Executive Properties were requested to come up with the FortyTwo Thousand (\$42,000.00)

Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow were asked to prematurely come up with cash on the original notes given in lieu of cash.

This was the first time, the investors were unaware of the delinquent installment and the subsequent Default Judgment. Attorney John P. Sampson was retained to investigate why the payment had not been made and the default taken. It was determined that the investors of Executive Properties had made Sixty Thousand Dollars (\$60,000.00) in cash payments to Executive Properties in 1972 and another FiftyFive Thousand (\$55,000.00) in cash in June of 1973. Yet the contracts between Executive Properties, Frontiers, and Apartment Enterprises only required an initial downpayment of Thirty Thousand Dollars and the January 15, 1973 payment of Fifty Thousand (\$50,000 00), which resulted in the Default Judgment. It was also determined that the General Partners, Frontiers and Lynford L. Theobald, had taken most of Executive Properties notes receivable from the investors and pledged them to Zion's National Bank as security for the One Hundred Ninty-Two Thousand Dollars (\$192,000.00) loan. The loan proceeds were used by Frontiers in its own operations and the acquisition of other properties for the formation of additional limited partnerships which Frontiers became the general partner. It was further determined by Mr. Sampson that in addition Frontiers owed Executive Properties on its books One Hundred

Nine Thousand Dollars (\$109,000.00) by means of inner office accounting. Furthermore, that Zion's National Bank would not return the promissory notes of Drs. Daines, McKee, and Morrow without receiving payment for them which in turn was to be applied against Frontiers then current loan balance. Futher investigation revealed that Frontiers in its formation of Executive Properties, and its simultaneous acquisition and sale of Bellevue to Executive Properties had failed to reveal to the investors its profit in the contract of an amount in excess of Four Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$400,000.00). Because sufficient monies had already been paid by the investors to Executive Properties for the delinquent payment, the One Hundred Nine Thousand Dollars (\$109,000.00) owed Executive Properties by Frontiers all partnership notes having been pledged to Zion's First National Bank, and finally the large undisclosed profits, the Investors informed the general partners that they had better obtain the funds to secure the defect as soon as possible from whatever sources they had available, and if they didn't litigation would be commenced against them.

In the meantime, Attorney Sampson on behalf of the Investors had negotiated with Apartment Enterprises and Paul M. Hansen to pay the delinquent Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) in the event the payment was not made by Frontiers, and futher,

in the event the default divesting Frontiers of any right, title, and interest to Bellevue was sustained. In the event the investors would assume directly the rights and obligations of the Frontiers contract with Apartment Enterprises.

Thereafter, Mr. Theobald, having been informed of the above information, sought financial assistance from Drs. Wesley G. Harline and Richard Nilsson, the directors of Frontiers. Each respondent gave Frontiers Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) and Frontiers in exchange gave its promissory note in the above amount, a promise to transfer 250,000 shares of investment stock in Frontiers to each respondent and finally a promise to pay to each respondent Twenty Thousand Dollars (\$20,000.00) from the profits of the contract between Frontiers and Executive Properties. In addition to the foregoing, Mr. Theobald promised that in the event Drs. Daines, McKee, and Morrow defaulted on their notes, then being held by Zion's National Bank, Frontiers West would foreclose the interests of the three doctors and transfer the doctors' interest to the respondents. The Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) paid by the respondents was deposited in Frontiers bank account on a deposit slip marked "Loan from Drs. Harline and Nilsson." The next day the exact funds

were transferred to Attorney Merlin Casey in Seattle, Washington for the purpose of reinstating the contract between Mastro and Apartment Enterprises. At the same time the transfer was made to Attorney Casey, Frontiers charged Executive Properties through its inner office account for the Forty Thousand (\$40,000.00). Thus, reducing the debt owed Executive Properties from One Hundred Nine Thousand Dollars (\$109,000.00), to Sixty-Nine Thousand Dollars (\$69,000.00). Subsequently, Mastro reinstated Apartment Enterprises' contract and Apartment Enterprises removed the default judgment and Frontiers' contract was reinstated.

Approximately two weeks later, Frontiers advised Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow, that their original notes given in lieu of cash were due and payable on December 29, 1973 and that if they were not paid immediately thereafter, their interests in the partnership would be forfeited and transferred to the respondents, Dr. Harline and Dr. Nilsson. Mr. Theobald was advised by Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow's attorney, Mr. John P. Sampson, that such a forfeiture was not legally possible and that if Mr. Theobald wanted payment of the notes, he had to first get them from Zion's National Bank and commence appropriate legal action. Zion's National Bank was unwilling to release the notes without a corresponding reduction in the then outstanding loan of Frontiers.

Payment was not made by Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow, and therefore Mr. Theobald notified the same three doctors of the transfer of their interest in Executive Properties to respondents, Dr. Harline and Dr. Nilsson. The transfer was made on the partnership books and records by giving respondents an equity interest in the partnership and increasing the debt owed the partnership by Frontiers by means of the inner office account. Thus the respondents were given a Forty Thousand Dollar (\$40,000.00) equity in the partnership and Frontiers owed the partnership One Hundred Nine Thousand Dollars (\$109,000.00) instead of the previous Sixty-Nine Thousand Dollars (\$69,000.00).

Because of the undisclosed profits, partnership notes pledged for other than partnership purposes, and the wrongful forfeiture of Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow's partnership interests, an action to remove Frontiers and Mr. Theobald as general partners and for an accounting of the entire partnership was commenced in the District Court of Weber County under the title of Lowell R. Daines et. al. vs. Frontiers West and Lynn Theobald, Case No. . A trial was subsequently held and a decree of final judgment was entered by the Honorable John F. Wahlquist in the matter. The judgment provided for the removal of Frontiers and Lynford Theobald as general partners. It reinstated Drs. Daines, McKee and Morrow as true limited partners. Frontiers' entire equity

in the contract with Executive Properties was declared the property of the investors and further gave judgment for the value of all partnership notes misappropriated by Frontiers in the wrongful pledge to Zion's National Bank and other Frontier creditors. A final accounting for the court in the above matter was made to the Honorable John F. Wahlquist by Mr. Dran Alexander, accountant for Frontiers; and in said accounting, Frontiers was given credit for the Forty Thousand (\$40,000.00) received from respondents. Thereafter, because of the financial set backs of Frontiers, in the many limited partnerships it was functioning as general partner and its failure to make proper payments to the banks, Frontiers in December 1974 applied for bankruptcy under the reorganization provisions of Chapter 11 of the Federal Bankruptcy Act. Frontiers was declared bankrupt in July of 1975 when the reorganization plan failed.

In the meantime, Executive Properties, with its new general partner, Lowell R. Daines, managed the property and arranged for its sale in June of 1975 to the Development Corporation of Canada. After the completion of the sale and the final declaration of bankruptcy of Frontiers, the respondents made demand on Executive Properties for the Forty Thousand Dollars (\$40,000.00) advanced Frontiers in 1973. Thereafter, Executive Properties refused the payment and this action was commenced and heard by the Honorable Calvin Gould.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT A FINDING THAT THE APPELLANT WAS UNJUSTLY ENRICHED BY THE ACTS OF THE RESPONDENTS.

This issue is laden with questions of fact which appellant submits were mistakenly understood by the trial court, when the trial court made its finding based upon the evidence that the defendant was unjustly enriched. The law of quasi-contracts, contracts implied by law, and the law of restitution are based upon the principal that no person should be unjustly enriched at the expense of another. "If there is no basis for unjust enrichment, there is no basis for restitution." 66 Am Jur 2d, "Restitution and Implied Contracts," Section 4. We submit that the elements of law are as follows:

1. That there must be services or benefits conferred on another,
2. With an expectation of being paid therefor,
3. With the donor not acting as a volunteer or as an intermeddler,
4. Allowing the one benefitted to retain the benefits without compensation therefor.

The facts of the instant case, although conferring a benefit of sorts, are such that the appellant herein is not the one upon whom the benefit was intended to be placed on

the date the respondents took their action. In the following dialogue, each witness and the facts each witness testified to are examined in the light of their intended acts and will show that by a preponderance of the evidence that the court erred and overlooked the same in finding that there had been an unjust enrichment.

THE FIRST AND SECOND ELEMENTS THAT THERE MUST BE A SERVICE OR A BENEFIT CONFERRED UPON ANOTHER AND THAT THERE WAS AN EXPECTATION OF BEING PAID FOR SUCH CONFERRING OF THE BENEFIT ARE HEREINAFTER EXAMINED WITH REGARD TO THE TRIAL TRANSCRIPT. Respondent Nilsson was a limited partner in the partnership known as B & L, having invested the sum of Ten Thousand Dollars (\$10,000.00) in October of 1970. (TR-119,120). Further, he had invested and was an incorporator as well as a member of the board of directors of Frontiers West, Inc., as of August of 1971. (TR-55). In Frontiers West, he had made an investment of Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000.00) (TR-120) and had become a creditor of Frontiers West, having assisted in its financial difficulties of the past by having loaned large sums of money to the corporation (TR-99). Respondent Harline, an incorporator and also a member of the board of directors of Frontiers West, Inc., since its inception (TR-55), had in his ownership prior to December 18, 1973, Seven Hundred Thousand (700,000) shares of outstanding stock, which had a value of five cents per share, or a total of

Thirty-Five Thousand Dollars (\$35,000.00) (TR-107). He also was a limited partner in appellant since its creation. (TR-109).

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