1977

Wesley G. Harline and Richard Nilsson v. Executive Properties : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL CLEARLY SUPPORTS THE JUDGMENT OF THE LOWER COURT.

The appellant contends that they should have won this proceeding in the trial court because the contribution of the doctors was in fact a "loan" to Frontiers West and not them, and secondly, notwithstanding the payment of the doctors in the sum of \$40,000.00 that they, (Executive Properties) were not unjustly enriched and thirdly, the contribution of the doctors was an officious intervention into Executive Properties' affairs and the plaintiffs/respondents should not be reimbursed for their payments.

The arguments of the appellant fly in the face not only of the evidence presented at the trial, but the admissions of defense counsel at the time of trial in response to the court's specific questions.

The \$40,000.00 payment by the plaintiffs was not a loan.

Dr. Richard Nilsson testified at the trial that he was not willing to make a loan to Frontiers West because he was aware of their very shaky financial situation (T 115).

He further testified that at the time he made the \$20,000.00 payment to Lynford Theobald he believed that he was purchasing additional partnership interests in the complex, (T 115), and he actually received additional partner interests in that property for his payment (T 117).

Dr. Wesley Harline testified at trial that Lynford Theobald came to his clinic and asked him to loan money to Frontiers West on or about the 12th day of December, 1973, and that he refused to do so (T 103). He refused upon the grounds that he was aware of the shaky financial circumstances of Frontiers West and would not loan them money, but he knew that Executive Properties was in trouble and they needed \$40,000.00 to redeem the property that they had lost through the foreclosure action (T 102). Dr. Harline testified very specifically that on the 12th day of December, 1973, he gave \$20,000.00 to Lynford Theobald and the purpose of that contribution was to secure additional shares in the partnership property (T 103).

Appellants did not refute the testimony of the two doctors at trial but relied upon notations made by the bookkeeper of Frontiers West on the deposit slip or events that occurred 6 days thereafter to categorize the \$40,000.00 payment by the plaintiffs/respondents as loans. The evidence was abundantly clear that Frontiers West was in grave financial circumstances. They had not been able to make the payments on the property in accordance with their contract.

A judgment had already been taken against them and Frontiers West and Executive Properties had lost the apartment complex and any investment they may have had. It would have been most foolhardy for two doctors who were aware of these circumstances to "loan" money to Frontiers West.

The court, after having heard that testimony, determined specifically, as reflected in the Findings of Fact, paragraph 10 at page 3, that plaintiffs were not interested in loaning money to Frontiers West because of the severe financial difficulties at that time, however, they were interested in purchasing additional shares of the limited partnership known as Executive Properties, and were willing to invest money for that purpose.

The second contention of the defendant/appellant is that they were not unjustly enriched by the payment of the \$40,000.00 by plaintiffs/respondents.

It was uncontradicted at the trial that Frontiers West neglected to make their annual interest installment in the sum of \$50,000.00 in January, 1973. Even after the payment was extended to June, 1973, they still neglected to make payment, and thereafter, in November, 1973, a judgment was granted against Frontiers West divesting them of all right, title and interest they had in the property, and by so doing, their purchaser, Executive Properties, lost all of their right, title and interest in said property (T 64).

It is obvious that if the property had any economic value it was important to the defendant/appellant to cure the default and they, too, obviously believed it was in their advantage to save the property or else they would not have negotiated with Mastro and Gammel to cure the default. Without speculation as to the knowledge or intent of the parties, the evidence produced at trial clearly showed first, that Executive Properties was specifically formed for the purpose of buying the apartment complex which is the subject matter of this dispute (T 34). Executive Properties apparently paid \$100,000.00 to Frontiers West upon execution of the agreement to purchase the apartment complex (T 40). Dr. Daines testified at trial that he became aware sometime in November or December of 1973, that Frontiers West had defaulted in the annual interest installment (T 42), and that he was aware that a final judgment had been rendered against Frontiers West divesting the defendant/appellant of any interest they had in the apartment complex.

It was further clear to the court that the only way the property could be preserved was to pay the delinquent installment payments.

The defendant/appellant, through the testimony of Dr. Daines, recited many times that if the payments were not made by Frontiers West or the other doctors who were

limited partners in Executive Properties, he would see that it was paid. But the fact remains that the judgment divesting them of their interest was taken on the 26th day of November, 1973, and as late as December 12, 1973, Executive Properties or their limited partners had not come up with the money, so Lynford Theobald sought the money to preserve the property from Dr. Nilsson and Dr. Harline.

When the \$40,000.00 was received from Harline and Nilsson, it was deposited in Walker Bank & Trust in Ogden, Utah, and immediately thereafter, a check was drawn on that same account and sent to Seattle, Washington, to bring current the payments to Mastro and Gammel. It was the same \$40,000.00 contributed by Drs. Harline and Nilsson that was paid over to Mastro and Gammel (T 128-129).

Mr. Oran Alexander, the accountant for Frontiers West, further testified at the trial that the payment in the sum of \$40,000.00 reduced the liability Executive Properties had through their chain of contracts over to Mastro and Gammel. When asked the question at trial, "So Executive Properties did get the benefit of \$40,000.00?", he responded, "You bet" (T 144). It is abundantly clear that the payment by the plaintiffs/respondents caused the judgment to be satisfied and the defendant/appellant to be restored to their property.

At the conclusion of the trial the court asked Mr. Bachman, counsel for the defendant, "There is no question

under the facts of this case that at the time the \$40,000.00 was advanced by the doctors, Frontiers West had no interest in the Bellevue property, did they?", to which Mr. Bachman responded, "No, there was a question whether they did or not, Your Honor, because of the fact that the default judgment, whether it was going to be set aside; whether there was a question of it having any impact". The court continued, "But anything they had, they had sold off to Executive Properties, didn't they?" Mr. Bachman responded, "Every interest they had, they had sold to Executive Properties and were standing in the position of general partner" (T 228 - 229).

It becomes even more obvious that Executive Properties was enriched by the \$40,000.00 payment when we find that Executive Properties filed an action against Frontiers West to divest Frontiers West of any interest they had in the apartment complex, and the court rolled back the purchase price paid by Executive Properties from the sum of \$1,880,000.00 to \$1,500,000.00 (T 51). Subsequent to the rollback in the purchase price, Executive Properties sold the property again to Narod Corporation, for \$1,900,000.00 (T 51).

Therefore, the argument of the defendant/appellant that they received no benefit from the \$40,000.00 contribution is ludicrous. Clearly they owed an obligation to Mastro and Gammel in the sum of \$50,000.00. That claim was satisfied for the payment of \$42,000.00, \$40,000.00 of which

was paid by the plaintiffs. Therefore, the equity in the contract was increased by \$50,000.00, and since Frontiers West had lost any right, title or interest they had in the property pursuant to the order of Judge Wahlquist, Executive Properties increased their equity in the property by \$50,000.00. When the property was subsequently sold to Narod for \$1,900,000.00, Executive Properties turned that equity into a \$50,000.00 profit. Based upon these facts, the court found that the defendants did in fact receive the benefit of the \$40,000.00. It would be almost impossible to have found otherwise.

The last argument of the defendants, that the actions of the plaintiffs were officious and meddling, is likewise not sustained by the evidence. Notwithstanding the continued comments of the defendants that they would have saved the property if Drs. Harline and Nilsson had not paid the \$40,000.00, the clear and undisputed evidence is that they did not do so, they did not pay any money, and it was the doctors' \$40,000.00 contribution that preserved the property.

Dr. Harline was a limited partner in Executive Properties and had heretofore made a \$10,000.00 investment. Any action on his part to preserve that investment cannot by any stretch of the imagination be called meddling or officious. But more importantly, the plaintiffs were approached by Lynford Theobald on or about the 12th day of December, 1973, who was then the President of Frontiers West, the

general partner of Executive Properties, and specifically asked to make a contribution to save the property.

It is interesting to note that Dr. Daines, the now general partner in Executive Properties, discussed specifically with Dr. Harline the payment of money to save the property and said, "We offered him the choice to come through Executive Properties. He chose to go the other way." (T 49).

It was obvious at that time that there was some move afoot within Executive Properties to oust Frontiers West as general partner. But at that time, Frontiers West was the general partner (T 49), and it would have been improper to have paid the money over to anyone other than the general partner.

At any rate, the defendants did not refuse the \$40,000.00. The money was accepted. The money was transported to Washington to save the property. The judgment was satisfied and the defendant did not offer to return the money to the plaintiffs. They now contend that the payment was officious and meddling. The court correctly sized up the situation at the time of trial and asked counsel for the defendant, "When did you say to these plaintiffs, 'we don't want that deal, we don't want the benefit of that \$40,000.00, take it back, put it in your own bank accounts'?" (T 232). Counsel for the defendant did not give a direct answer and the court pressed the issue and finally said,

"Yes, what they in effect said then was, 'you guys put that money in Frontiers West, and it is bye bye to it', didn't they?", to which counsel for the defendant responded, "That's right" (T 232). The court continued, "Now you say he was an intermeddler here?", to which Mr. Bachman responded, "I say there was some interference here, Your Honor", to which the court asked further, "Here you have got the managing agent for Executive Properties issuing a call, 'please come and save our Bellevue properties', and you say he is an intermeddler?", to which Mr. Bachman responded, "...it is for the benefit of Frontiers West and their Board of Directors".

It was thus abundantly clear at the trial that the defendants sat back, watched the plaintiffs make their contribution, watched that contribution save the property, and cause the judgment to be satisfied, and further cause the defendant's equity in the property to be increased by \$50,000.00, and ultimately result in a profit to them. They now deny repayment of the \$40,000.00 to the plaintiffs or give them equivalent equity in the properties upon the ground that their payment constituted an officious and meddling conduct, or that they (Executive Properties) did not gain any benefit by the payment of that money or that the money was a loan to the general partner and therefore the limited partners had no responsibility.

The court saw through the scheme and found the issues in favor of the plaintiffs.

POINT II

THERE IS A PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS IN THE FINDINGS AND JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT AND IF THEY ARE TO BE UPSET THE BURDEN IS UPON THE APPELLANT TO SHOW THAT THEY WERE IN ERROR.

It is abundantly clear in this state that the findings of the trier of fact should not be upset lightly. There is indulged a presumption of correctness of his findings in judgment. That was the holding of this court in Del Porto v. Nicolo, 27 Utah 2d 286, 495 P.2d 811, where the court said at page 812,

It is true, as plaintiff asserts, that this action to avoid deeds is one in equity upon which this court has both the prerogative and the duty to review and weigh the evidence, and to determine the facts. However, in the practical application of that rule it is well established in our decisional law that due to the advantaged position of the trial court, in close proximity to the parties and witnesses, there is indulged a presumption of correctness of his findings and judgment, with the burden upon the appellant to show they were in error; and where the evidence is in conflict, we do not upset his findings merely because we may have reviewed the matter differently, but do so only if evidence clearly preponderates against them.

Assuming the matter now before the court to be a case in equity in which the court may exercise its prerogative to review and weigh the evidence and to determine the facts, the presumption of correctness should continue.

This court also considered the same kind of argument as advanced by the appellants here in Pagano v. Walker, 539 P.2d 452 (1975), where the court said at page 454,

In determining whether the evidence meets this standard, in equity cases such as this is, this court may review the facts. However, it has long been established and reiterated by this court in numerous cases that due to the advantaged position of the trial court we will review its findings and judgments with considerable indulgence, and will not disagree with and upset them unless the evidence clearly preponderates against them, or the court has mistaken or misapplied the law applicable thereto. (emphasis added)

A host of cases can be cited in this jurisdiction and elsewhere around the country to support this position and further discussion here is unwarranted.

CONCLUSION

The court heard the testimony, observed the witnesses, and even questioned counsel following final argument. Based upon the facts and the evidence submitted at the time of trial, the court found that the contribution in the sum of \$40,000.00 by the plaintiffs/respondents was not in fact a loan, but a payment to secure additional partnership interest in Executive Properties. The doctors advancing the money were well acquainted with the financial circumstances and conditions of Frontiers West, and to have made a loan to them would have been foolish. The money was paid to secure an additional interest in the property and there was no evidence to the contrary.

Obviously, if the doctors had an interest in either Executive Properties or Frontiers West, they could not logically be construed as intermeddlers or their acts officious. In fact, quite the contrary. They were attempt-

ing to preserve the property even for the defendants. The defendants accepted their money. They have never rejected it or turned it down, and they have never offered to repay it. They came in after the fact and refused to repay and refused to grant any benefit for the \$40,000.00. For the court to have found in favor of the defendant and against the plaintiffs would have been truly an unconscionable result.

The major argument of the appellants that they did not receive any benefit from the contribution, defies all logic. The court clearly saw their benefit. They have never specifically denied it, having acknowledged that they received an additional equity in the sum of \$50,000.00 on the original contract, and having acknowledged that after the purchase price was rolled back by the court, they then sold the property for \$1,900,000.00, it logically follows that they reaped a profit of \$50,000.00.

The judgment of the lower court should be affirmed.